## **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

2003

# Larry Briggs v. Valley Spas, Inc.; Salt Lake Valley Spas, Inc.; Lowell Brown; Valley Spa I, Inc., : Brief of **Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code § 78-2-2(3)(j). This matter was assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code § 78-2-2(4)

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue: Whether the court erred when granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment dismissing Mr. Briggs' breach of contract action, by concluding a binding contract to settle Mr. Briggs' claims existed, when there are disputed issues of fact and law about whether there was an unconditional acceptance to Mr. Briggs' offer or whether Defendants response was a counter-offer.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment, ¶ 2 (Record, at 188-189).

Issue: Whether the District Court improperly weighed evidence and made findings of fact on disputed issues regarding Plaintiff's offer and Defendants' response to that offer. Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; showing disputed facts (Record, at 188-196).

Issue: Whether the Court's conclusion of law finding Mr. Briggs' other causes of action to be without merit, was erroneous.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and Jury Demand (Record, at 34-50).

Issue: Whether the District Court erred in finding that Mr. Briggs offer was not made

under duress.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; showing disputed facts (Record, at 188-196).

Issue: Whether the District Court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's complaint because of a settlement agreement when Defendants were in breach of the ostensible settlement agreement, and therefore not in a position to seek enforcement against Mr. Briggs. Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; (Record, at 188-196; see ¶ 17; Record, at 171 specificially).

Issue: Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment, awarding attorney's fees when disputed material facts precluded summary judgment and where

Defendants admitted that Plaintiff had raised material disputed facts.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; showing disputed facts (Record, at 533 et seq.), Plaintiff's motion to summarily deny Defendants motion for summary judgment; showing Defendants' admission that Plaintiff had raised material disputes (Record, at 798-801).

Issue: Whether the Distirct Court erred in awarding attorney's fees pursuant to statute (Utah Code § 78-27-56) when the undisputed facts do not fit that statute.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; showing disputed facts (Record, at 533 et seq.).

Issue: Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney's fees "in the interest of

justice" without explaining how any exception to the American Rule fit this case and where the undisputed facts do not support such an award.

Standard of Review: For reviewing the granting of summary judgment: review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115.

Preserved for appeal: Plaintiff's memorandum opposing Defendants' motion for summary judgment; showing disputed facts (Record, at 533 et seq.).

#### **DETERMINITIVE LAW**

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56 Utah Code § 13-11-1 et seq (Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act) Utah Code § 78-27-56 (Attorney's Fees)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of case:

This case is for damages for breach of contract, consumer protection violations, and fraud. Defendants counterclaimed for attorney's fees.

## Course of proceedings:

- 1. Mr. Briggs filed this case on November 29, 1999.
- 2. Defendants answered on March 20, 2000.

- 3. Mr. Briggs filed an Amended Complaint on September 26, 2000.
- 4. Defendants answered and counterclaimed on November 29, 2000.
- 5. Both sides filed motions for summary judgment. (Defendants: March 15, 2001; Plaintiff: March 26, 2001).
- 6. The Court heard Mr. Briggs' and Defendants' motions for summary judgment on May 22, 2001.
- 7. On June 11, 2001 the Court dismissed Mr. Briggs' complaint in a signed minute entry, but did not rule on Defendants' counterclaim.
- 8. Defendant filed, and the Court signed, a "Final Judgment Dismissing Mr. Briggs' Complaint." July 3, 2001.
- 9. Mr. Briggs appealed to the Court of Appeals, which found the order was not final and dismissed the appeal without prejudice. *Briggs v. Valley Spas, Inc.*, 2001 UT App 410.
- 10. Defendants filed a second motion for summary judgment on January 30, 2003.
- 11. The District Court heard argument on Defendants' second motion for summary judgment ("Second MSJ"), the District Court also heard argument on Defendants' motion for rule 11 sanctions, which it denied. That motion is not part of this appeal.
- 12. The District Court granted Defendants' Second MSJ in a signed minute entry on July 23, 2003.
- 13. Mr. Briggs timely appealed on September 22, 2003.

#### Disposition at trial court:

The Court dismissed Mr. Briggs' complaint in Defendants' first motion for summary judgment ("First MSJ") and granted Defendants' counterclaim in Defendants' Second MSJ.

#### Relevant facts:

- 1. Between September 17, 1993 and September 16, 1995 Mr. Briggs paid Defendants \$8,939.19, constituting full payment (Record, at 183) at Defendants' Utah State Fair booth for a particular model of spa and gazebo (Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, ¶¶ 1-3; Record, at 172-3) having been told by Defendants they could produce his fully-paid-for spa and gazebo whenever Mr. Briggs was ready to take delivery (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 4; Record, at 209).
- 2. At some point, Defendants' business stopped carrying the manufacturer who made Mr. Briggs' spa and gazebo (Affidavit of Defendant Lowell Brown, ¶ 5; Record, at 303).
- 3. Sometime in 1999, Mr. Briggs became aware that Defendants' were unable to honor his contract because Defendants no longer carried Cal Spas products.
  (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 5; Record, at 209 cf Affidavit of Defendant Lowell

- Brown, ¶ 2 Record, 336 "...Valley Spas dealer relationship with Cal Spas has been terminated...).
- 4. Mr. Briggs demanded a refund (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 6; Record, at 209).
- 5. Defendants refused (Affidavit of Lowell Brown, ¶ 4; Record, at 248-9 *cf* Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 8, 209) claiming Mr. Briggs had bought a "store credit" not a particular hot tub and gazebo (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 9, 209 *cf* Letter to Plaintiff from Defendants, dated November 11, 1999 ("Brown Response"); Record, at 185: "Current in store creditof [sic]..." *cf* Affidavit of Defendant Lowell Brown, ¶ 8, Record, at 337 "I never told plaintiff his only right consisted of a 'store credit'...").
- 6. On November 9, 1999, after much negotiation, Mr. Briggs sent Defendants a letter offering to settle his claim (Letter from Plaintiff to Defendants dated November 9, 1999 ("Briggs Offer"); Record, at 184). This letter offered to accept the gazebo as described in his purchase contract, at the then-current higher price, and taking a refund on the difference. The letter further said that this matter had to be "totally resolved" by November 20th 1999 or Mr. Briggs would file suit *Id*.
- 7. Defendants response, contained in Brown Response, countered by proposing to deliver a gazebo different from the one Mr. Briggs demanded in Briggs Offer, and agreeing to refund the balance to Mr. Briggs by November 18, 1999 (Brown Response; Record, at 185)

- 8. Brown Response further required that Mr. Briggs agree with and sign their self-styled "proposal" before receiving his refund (Brown Response; Record at 185: "If you are in agreement with letter please acknowledge.... Valley Spa will issue a check at the same time you provide us with agreement with this letter." and "Thank you for your time and consideration of this proposal.").
- 9. Mr. Briggs considered this a counter-offer and never agreed to it (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 19; Record, at 109).
- 10. On November 20, 1999, the date Mr. Briggs' letter had set for performance (Briggs Offer; Record, at 184), and two days after the Brown Response promised to deliver the refund (Brown Response; Record, at 185), Defendants had not delivered the gazebo (Affidavit of Lowell Brown, ¶ 10; Record, at 275-276), nor had they tendered the refund (Affidavit of Larry Briggs, ¶ 15; Record, at 209).
- 11. Mr. Briggs waited until November 29, 1999 and, having received nothing from Defendants, filed the suit now at issue seeking to enforce his sales contract (Complaint bearing Third District Court file stamp date November 29, 1999, Record, at 1).

### Summary of argument:

The District Court erred on several grounds in granting Defendants' first and second motions for summary judgment.

#### Defendant's first motion for summary judgment:

The District Court dismissed Mr. Briggs' complaint, ruling that a) the November 9, 1999 letter from Plaintiff to Defendant (Briggs Offer) and the November 11, 1999 letter from Defendant to Mr. Briggs (Brown Response) constituted a valid, binding offer and unconditional acceptance to settle Mr. Briggs' claims, and b) "Mr. Briggs' [other] claims do not have merit."

The District Court erred because:

- 1. The Brown Response is not an unconditional acceptance; it is a counterproposal, which operated to reject the Briggs Offer.
- 2. The Court improperly weighed evidence and made findings of fact on disputed issues.
- The ostensible settlement agreement would not totally extinguish Mr.
   Briggs' rights.
- 4. The Court's ruling on Mr. Briggs' other causes of action is sparse and lacks conclusions and a recitation of the facts supporting those conclusions, and is itself an incorrect conclusion of law.
- 5. The Briggs Offer was made under duress after Defendants' unlawful actions, and was therefore void or voidable.
- 6. Defendants themselves breached the ostensible settlement agreement, and therefore they were not in a position to seek enforcement against

Mr. Briggs.

### Defendants' second motion for summary judgment:

The District Court granted attorney's fees in the second motion for summary judgment. This decision was erroneous because:

- 1. Disputed material facts precluded summary judgment.
- 2. The Court wrongly allowed attorney's fees pursuant to statute (Utah Code § 78-27-56) when the facts do not fit that statute.
- 3. The Court awarded attorney's fees "in the interest of justice" without explaining how any exception to the American Rule fit this case.

#### ARGUMENT

Plaintiff Briggs was forced to sue Defendants for breach of contract (and other legal claims) because Defendants refused to deliver the gazebo and spa as contracted for, and for which Mr. Briggs had fully paid some four years earlier, and refused to refund the money to Mr. Briggs. When Mr. Briggs attempted to resolve the matter with the Defendants by proposing the Briggs Offer, the Defendants rejected the offer and pressed their own counter-offer. Mr. Briggs never accepted the counter-offer. The rest of the litigation flows from the Defendants' dogged refusal to make good on the sale of the gazebo and spa or to refund the money paid.

The Defendants filed their first motion for summary judgment (hereafter "First MSJ") against Mr. Briggs' complaint. The District Court granted the First MSJ and thereby cut off Briggs' right to a trial on the merits when the facts and law demanded otherwise. Article I, Section 11 of the Utah Constitution "assures access to the courts for the protection of rights and the redress of wrongs; therefore, summary judgment, which denies the opportunity of trial, should be granted only when it clearly appears that there is no reasonable probability the party moved against could prevail." *Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science v. Sutro & Co.*, 646 P.2d 715 n14, (Utah 1982).

In granting Defendants' First MSJ the District Court recited some of the facts of the case, (improperly) weighed some disputed facts, and expressly found that "[the Briggs Offer] constitutes an offer. [The Brown Response] is an unconditional acceptance of Mr. Briggs' offer." (Record, at 375 (also Addendum, at tab 6); see also Record, at 866 (also Addendum, at tab 7), where the District Court implicitly repeated this finding.) The Court then dismissed Mr. Briggs' complaint without further explanation (Record, at 375 (also Addendum, at tab 6)).

# I. Contrary to the District Court's Finding, The Ostensible Settlement Agreement Did Not Constitute an Accord and Satisfaction.

The District Court erroneously found that the Briggs Offer and Brown Response constituted, as a matter of law, an accord and satisfaction (without actually calling it that).

"An accord and satisfaction arises when the parties to a contract agree that a certain performance offered in substitution of the performance originally agreed upon will discharge the obligation created under the original agreement." *Petersen v. Petersen*, 709 P.2d 372, 377 (Utah 1985).

It is undisputed that Mr. Briggs and Defendants had a contract obligating Defendants to deliver a particular model spa and gazebo for an agreed price – a price that Mr. Briggs had already paid more than four years before bringing this action. (Sales Agreement, Record, at 55 (also Addendum, at tab 1)). As a defense to Mr. Briggs' breach of contract cause of action, Defendants alleged that the parties had entered into a new agreement that called for the Defendants to perform in a manner different from the original contract. (Defendants' Answer to Amended Complaint and Counterclaim, ¶ 1 (under Counterclaim heading), Record, at 65). It was this ostensible agreement that the District Court concluded was valid and binding. (Minute Entry dated June 11, 2001 ("First ME"); Record, at 375 (also addendum, at tab 6)).

The District Court erred in this finding, however, because the ostensible agreement did not fulfill the elements of an accord and satisfaction. "The elements essential to contracts generally must be present in an accord and satisfaction, including an offer and acceptance and a meeting of the minds." *Cove View Excavating and Const. Co. v. Flynn*, 758 P.2d 474, 476 (Utah App. 1988). Specifically, Defendants did not unconditionally accept the Briggs Offer. Instead, the Brown Response offered different terms and thereby

rejected Mr. Briggs' offer. (Brown Response; Record, at 185 (also addendum, at tab 3))

"An acceptance must unconditionally assent to all material terms presented in the offer, including price and method of performance, **or it is a rejection** of the offer." *Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d 1372, 1376 (Utah 1995) (emphasis added). In this case, the Defendants never assented to "all material terms presented" in the Briggs Offer.

The Briggs Offer offered to accept the "Gazebo as described in my contract." (Briggs Offer; Record, at 184 (also Addendum, at tab 2)). That original contract (the final sales contract) specified a "grey metal" color "Omni Lux[ury]" gazebo with outside dimensions of 16' 7" x 12' 7". (Sales Agreement; Record, at 183 (also Addendum. at tab 1)). The Briggs Offer further demanded that Defendants perform by November 20, 1999 (Briggs Offer; Record, at 184) The Briggs Offer thus called for delivery of the specified gazebo and refund of money by November 20, 1999 (Briggs Offer; Record, at 184 (also Addendum, at tab 2)); the Brown Response did not accept those terms of the Briggs offer.

"An acceptance must be clear, positive and unambiguous.[citation omitted] ... This requirement is often treated as identical with the requirement dealt with in the following sections that an acceptance must not change, add to, or qualify the terms of the offer; and such changes or qualifications undoubtedly prevent an acceptance from being positive and unequivocal." R.J. Daum Const. Co. v. Child, 247 P.2d 817, 820 (Utah 1952) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted; emphasis added).

By changing the terms of the offer, the Brown Response did not accept the Briggs

Offer but instead *counter-offered* by offering to deliver an "Omni Luxury 12x16 green

metal roof" gazebo. (Brown Response; Record, at 185 (also Addendum, at tab 3)). The

Brown Response also stated: "This is the 1999 version of the product you purchased…"

Id. Finally, the Brown Response goes on to **require** Mr. Briggs to agree with Defendants' self-styled "proposal," i.e. this counter-offer, before he could get his refund. Id.

The Brown Response thus offered to deliver a gazebo differing in color, model year, and size from the gazebo specified in the original contract and in the Briggs Offer.

Furthermore, the Brown Response required Mr. Briggs to assent to their self-styled proposal.

"An offeree's proposal of *different terms* from those of the offer constitutes a counteroffer, and *no contract arises unless the original offeror accepts it unconditionally." Cal Wadsworth*, at 1378 (emphasis added).

The Brown Response makes clear that Defendants asked Briggs to assent to *their* offer (Brown Response, Record, at 185 (also Addendum, at tab 3)). "The apparent mutual assent of the parties, essential to the formation of a contract, must be gathered from the language employed by them, and **the law imputes to a person an intention** corresponding to the reasonable meaning of its words and acts." *Allen v. Bissinger & Co.*, 219 P. 539, 541 (Utah 1923) (emphasis added)

Defendants' words required Mr. Briggs to expressly agree with the counter-offer: "If

you are in agreement with this letter please acknowledge by signing below where provided. Valley Spa will issue a check at the same time you provide us with agreement with this letter. ¶ Thank you for your time and consideration of this proposal." (Brown Response; Record, at 185 (also Addendum, at tab 3); emphasis added). The reasonable meaning of Brown Response's words is that Defendants sought Mr. Briggs' "agreement" to Defendants' "proposal," The plain meaning of the Brown Response's words is that of an offer; not an "unconditional acceptance." Furthermore, the reasonable implication of Brown Response's words is that Defendants knew that their letter was an offer, not an acceptance1.

Mr. Briggs never accepted the Brown Response's counter-offer. (Affidavit of Larry Briggs dated March 17, 2001, ¶ 19; Record, at 210 (also Addendum, at tab 4)). Therefore, no contract of any sort arose from the Brown Response. Accordingly, no accord and satisfaction existed as a result of either the Briggs Offer or the Brown Response.

# II. The District Court Improperly Made Findings of Facts When Deciding the First Summary Judgment.

The District Court found that the Briggs Offer and the Brown Response created an

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