2003

Larry Briggs v. Valley Spas, Inc.; Salt Lake Valley Spas, Inc., Lowell Brown; Valley Spa I, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

⁹See also authorities cited in footnote 7 above.

B. Mr. Brown Accepted the Settlement Offer, at the Very Latest, in His November 11 Acceptance Letter.

The trial court ruled that Mr. Brown's "November 11 letter is an unconditional acceptance of" Mr. Briggs' settlement offer. (R. at 375.)¹⁰ On pages 17-21 of his brief Mr. Briggs asserts that the trial court erred, and that the November 11 letter actually rejected his settlement offer and made a counteroffer for settlement on different terms.

¹⁰Mr. Briggs includes the two letters in the Addendum to his brief, but quotes only snippets of each. The November 9 settlement offer reads in relevant part as follows:

Again I will reiterate my offer. On Thursday (11-4-99) over the phone I told you that I was willing to pay the current high price of \$5,995.00 + applicable tax for the Gazebo as described in my contract. . . . I also stated that after paying Valley Spa for the Gazebo that there was a remaining balance on my contract of around \$2,570.00. Because this amount isn't enough to purchase a spa to my satisfaction I told you that you would have to refund this amount back to me.

Since was had this conversation on Thursday . . . I made an appointment to see a Contract Attorney on Tuesday. . . . [H]e told me the first thing that I should do is write you this letter before we pursue legal action against Valley Spa. . . . If you do not except [sic] my offer as described above we will settle this in court. . . . If you do not except [sic] this offer and it goes to court, I'm suing for the return of the contract price + interest. . . .

Mr. Brown you now have until November 20, 1999 to get back to me and totally resolve this issue. If it is not resolved by this date, we will settle it in court.

You can contact me by phone at 968-3788. If I am not at home you can leave a message, the answering machine is always on.

(Mr. Briggs' Addendum, Tab 2.) The November 11 acceptance letter reads as follows:

As per your request I have ordered an Omni Luxury 12X16 green metal roof gazebo by Cal Spa. This is the 1999 version of the product purchased on September 16, 1995. The agreed upon price is stated in my October 21, 1999 letter to you, the Better Business Bureau, and the Utah Division of Consumer Protection.

In addition, Valley Spa has agreed to pay the balance of the contract by November 18, 1999. Our agreement is as follows: \$5995.00 plus tax of \$380.60 totaling \$6375.68 will be subtracted from the current in sort credit of \$8,939.19. The balance of \$2,563.51 will be paid to you. If you are in agreement with this letter please acknowledge by signing below where provided. Valley Spa will issue a check at the same time you provide us with agreement of this letter.

Thank you for your time and consideration of this proposal.

(Mr. Briggs' Addendum, Tab 3.)

1. The November 11 letter expressed unqualified acceptance.

Although Mr. Briggs argues at length about what Mr. Brown did or did not say in his November 11 letter, remarkably Mr. Briggs never sets out the full text of that letter. Mr. Briggs' assertion that the November 11 letter was "not an 'unconditional acceptance'" of the settlement offer (Briggs' Br. at 21) ignores the following language:

As per your request I have ordered an Omni Luxury 12X16 green metal roof gazebo by Cal Spa. . . . *The agreed upon price* is stated in my October 21, 1999 letter. . . . Valley Spa *has agreed* to pay the balance of the contract. . . . *Our agreement* is as follows The balance of \$2,563.51 *will be paid to you*.

(Briggs' Addendum, Tab 3; italics added.) Mr. Brown and Valley Spa respectfully submit that this language constitutes an unconditional acceptance of Mr. Briggs' settlement offer.¹¹

Mr. Briggs never acknowledges the above-quoted language. Rather, on pages 20-21 of his brief he asks the Court to focus only on the last three sentences of the November 11 letter:

If you are in agreement with this letter please acknowledge by signing below where provided. Valley Spa will issue a check at the same time you provide us with agreement of this letter.

Thank you for your time and consideration of this proposal.

Mr. Briggs argues that this language amounts to a rejection of his settlement offer, and a counteroffer to settle "different terms." (Briggs' Br. at 18.) Mr. Briggs' argument would of course have merit if the November 11 letter stated that "*if* you acknowledge this letter, *then* Valley Spa *will agree* to pay the balance of the contract . . ." This is not, however, what the letter says. Rather, as in the prior telephone conversation between Messrs. Briggs and Brown

¹¹Indeed, the quoted language refers to the Settlement Agreement as an accomplished fact. This makes sense in light of Mr. Briggs' sworn interrogatory response (discussed in the preceding section) that Mr. Brown had already "agreed to" the settlement agreement in the prior telephone conversation.

(discussed in section II.A. above), in his November 11 letter Mr. Brown first accepts the settlement offer using the unconditional language quoted above. He then asks Mr. Briggs to acknowledge what was legally implicit in the settlement offer itself – that Valley Spa’s acceptance of the offer would create a legally binding Settlement Agreement.¹² Mr. Brown’s acceptance of the settlement offer, including his commitment that, “The balance of \$2,563.51 will be paid to” Mr. Briggs, did not depend upon whether or not Mr. Briggs provided the requested acknowledgment. Nor did the acceptance depend upon whether or not Mr. Briggs agreed to the proposal regarding when Valley Spa would perform.¹³ As discussed in section II.A. above in connection with Mr. Brown’s oral acceptance during the parties’ telephone conversation, “An acceptance which requests a change or addition to the terms of the offer is not thereby invalidated unless the acceptance is made to depend on an assent to the changed or added terms.” Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 61 (1981).¹⁴

And finally, as argued above in connection with the oral acceptance, Mr. Brown’s understanding that an enforceable settlement agreement had been formed is demonstrated by the undisputed fact that – as stated in the November 11 acceptance – he did order the specified gazebo for Mr. Briggs. (R. at 181.) See Goodmansen, 866 P.2d at 585 (offer and acceptance supported by the fact that “the conduct of the parties indicates that both parties believed a

¹²See 1 Corbin on Contracts (1963) § 87 p. 373 (“The expression in words of that which is already implied in the terms of the offer is not a variation therefrom.”) and other authorities cited in footnote 6 above.

¹³On page 24 of his brief, Mr. Briggs asserts that the “Brown Response [i.e., the November 11 acceptance] demands Mr. Briggs’ acceptance.” This assertion has no basis in the actual documents.

¹⁴See also other authorities cited in footnote 7 above.

settlement agreement had been reached”). Cf. 1 Corbin on Contracts (1963) § 87 p. 373 (“The acceptance should not be held to be conditional if the offeror himself did not so treat it; and after action has been taken in the belief that agreement has been reached, a court should not overweigh minor differences in form.”) The gazebo that Mr. Brown ordered was delivered to Valley Spa in due course. Despite repeated invitations to inspect the gazebo, Mr. Briggs never did so.

2. The settlement offer set a time limit for acceptance, not for performance.

Notwithstanding the language of unqualified language in the November 11 letter, Mr. Briggs argues that there was no valid acceptance because his settlement offer

demanded that Defendants perform by November 20, 1999. . . . The Briggs Offer thus called for delivery of the specified gazebo and refund of money by November 20, 1999.

(Mr. Briggs’ Br. at 19.) Mr. Briggs’s argument ignores the actual language of his settlement offer. At the beginning of his settlement offer he complains of Mr. Brown’s “not getting back with me stating your position on whether you were willing to except [sic] my last offer.” (Mr. Briggs’ Addendum, Tab 2.) Then, at the close of his settlement offer, Mr. Briggs states,

Mr. Brown you now have until November 20, 1999 to get back with me and totally resolve this issue. If it is not resolved by this date, we will settle it in court. . . . You can contact me by phone at 968-3788. If I am not at home you can leave a message, the answering machine is always on.

(Id.) Thus, November 20 was the deadline for Mr. Brown to “get back with” Mr. Briggs and accept the offer. The settlement offer provided that if Mr. Brown did so this dispute would be “totally resolve[d].” The settlement offer even suggested that Mr. Brown could accept the offer by telephone or by leaving an acceptance on Mr. Briggs’ answering machine. Contrary to the argument in Mr. Briggs’ brief, however, his settlement offer did not “demand” that Mr. Brown

and Valley Spa complete their performances under the Settlement Agreement by November 20.¹⁵

3. Mr. Brown Agreed to procure the correct model of gazebo.

Mr. Briggs also argues that the November 11 acceptance letter was defective because Mr. Brown stated that he had ordered

an Omni Luxury 12X16 green metal roof gazebo by Cal Spa. This is the 1999 version of the product purchased on September 16, 1995.

(Briggs Addendum Tab 3.) Mr. Briggs asserts that this was the wrong gazebo in three respects – wrong dimensions, wrong roof color, and wrong model year. (Briggs Br. at 19–20.)

i. The original contract between Valley Spa and Mr. Briggs was for an “Omni Luxury 12X16” gazebo.

Mr. Briggs’ argument regarding the dimensions of the gazebo contradicts his repeated representations to the trial court, and ignores the undisputed record. Mr. Briggs’ settlement offer said he wanted “the Gazebo as described in” his original contract with Valley Spa. (Briggs Addendum Tab 2.) As Mr. Briggs repeatedly represented to the trial court, that original contract was for a Cal Spa Omni Luxury 12X16 gazebo.¹⁶ Thus, in both his Complaint and his Amended

¹⁵Even if the November 9 settlement offer had been ambiguous regarding what is was that had to be done by November 20 (i.e., get back to Mr. Briggs to accept, or complete all of Valley Spa’s performance), any such ambiguity should be resolved against Mr. Briggs. See Jones, Waldo, Holbrook, etc. v. Dawson, 923 P.2d 1366, 1372 (Utah 1996) (“In choosing among the reasonable meanings of a promise or agreement or a term thereof, that meaning is generally preferred which operates against the party who supplies the words or from whom a writing otherwise proceeds.”) (Citation omitted.); Coulter v. Smith, Ltd., 966 P.2d 852, 858 (Utah 1998) (“The choice of contract interpretations which avoid invalidating an agreement is favored under Utah law.”).

¹⁶In his settlement offer, Mr. Briggs stated that he was “willing to pay the current high price of \$5,995.00 + applicable tax for the Gazebo as described in my contract.” (Briggs Addendum Tab 2.) The figure of “\$5,990.00” comes from an earlier letter from Mr. Brown suggesting that the parties settle for “the exact 12X16 Cal spa Omni luxury metal roof gazebo. . . . This unit [is] currently costing \$5,995.00.” (R. 173-74.)

Complaint, Mr. Briggs pleaded that he “contract to buy an ‘Omni Luxury’ gazebo that was 12' by 16'.” (R. at 4, 39.) When Mr. Brown and Valley Spa moved for summary judgment regarding the Settlement Agreement, and stated as an undisputed material fact that the original contract had been for a “Cal Spas Omni Luxury 12X16 gazebo” (R. at 172), Mr. Briggs did not dispute this fact. To the contrary, in his memorandum opposing summary judgment, Mr. Briggs confirmed that his original contract was for “a product from Cal Spas: Omni Luxury 12' by 16'.” (R. at 196.)¹⁷

Mr. Briggs bases his argument regarding the gazebo’s dimensions on the following parenthetical notation on the second of the two original contract documents he executed with Valley Spa: “(outside dim. 16'7" x 12'7").” (Briggs Addendum Tab 1¹⁸.) Based on this notation, Mr. Briggs argues that notwithstanding all of his prior representations to the trial court, his original contract was for something other than a “Omni Luxury 12X16" gazebo. (Briggs Br. at 20.)¹⁹ As Mr. Briggs knows, however, and as the undisputed record evidence demonstrates, the “12X16” in the model name of the gazebo he contracted for refers to the gazebo’s *inside dimensions*. (R. at 309.) Indeed, a document which Mr. Briggs produced in response to

¹⁷See also Mr. Briggs’ affidavit referring to the gazebo he was to receive under the Settlement Agreement as a “deluxe 12' x 16' gazebo.” (R. at 210.)

¹⁸The first of the two original contract documents is partially illegible, but appears to describe the gazebo as “12X16 luxury.” (R. at 182.)

¹⁹The first time Mr. Briggs raised in the trial court this argument regarding the gazebo’s outside dimensions appears to have been on February 12, 2003 – over a year and a half after the trial court had granted Mr. Brown and Valley Spa’s first Motion for Summary Judgment, ruling that the Settlement Agreement extinguished Mr. Briggs’ claims. (R. at 535, 372-76.) Mr. Briggs never asked the trial court for consideration of that judgment; rather, he raised this argument only in opposition to Mr. Brown and Valley Spa’s second Motion for Summary Judgment, which addressed their Counterclaim for attorney’s fees.

discovery requests and then himself introduced into the record suggests that the outside dimensions of the “Omni Luxury 12X16” gazebo are 12’8” × 16’8”. (R. 500, 632.) If Mr. Briggs had responded to one of the repeated invitations to inspect the gazebo (R. at 521), he could have satisfied himself regarding its outside dimensions. But Mr. Briggs took no such discovery. (R. at 163.) The only competent record evidence is Mr. Brown’s testimony that the gazebo which was specified in the November 11 acceptance letter, and which was ordered by and delivered to Valley Spa, was the gazebo specified by Mr. Briggs’ original contract with Valley Spa. (R. at 181.) The parenthetical notation regarding the outside dimensions of a “Omni Luxury 12X16” gazebo does not contradict this fact.

- ii. The color of the gazebo’s roof was immaterial, and Mr. Briggs’ right to raise this issue was waived by his delay in doing so.

Mr. Briggs also argues that the November 11 acceptance letter was invalid because Mr. Brown stated therein that he had ordered a gazebo with a “green metal roof.” (Briggs Addendum Tab 3.) Mr. Briggs argues that this was the wrong color. (Briggs Br. at 19-20.) The settlement offer did not specify a roof color, but referred to the parties’ original contract. (Briggs Addendum Tab 2.) The second of the two documents forming that contract is not terribly legible, but does appear to call for a grey roof (Briggs Addendum Tab 1); if so, Mr. Brown may have misread that document. However, an acceptance is valid so long as it “assent[s] to all *material* terms presented in the offer.” Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George, 898 P.2d 1372, 1376 (Utah 1995) (emphasis added). The immateriality of the roof color is demonstrated by Mr. Briggs’ delay of over three years before ever raising this issue.

Although Messrs. Brown and Briggs had a telephone conversation regarding the gazebo a

few days after Mr. Briggs had received the November 11 acceptance letter (R. at 10-11), there is no indication in the record that Mr. Briggs raised the issue of the gazebo's roof color. Nor did Mr. Briggs mention this issue in his pleadings (R. at 1-13, 34-50), nor even in his opposition to Mr Brown and Valley Spa's first Motion for Summary Judgment which sought enforcement of the Settlement Agreement. (R. at 188-219.) Instead, the first time Mr. Briggs objected to the gazebo's roof color appears to have been February 12, 2003 – over three years after he had received Mr. Brown's November 11, 1999, acceptance letter, and over a year and a half after the trial court had ruled that the Settlement Agreement extinguished Mr. Briggs' claims. (R. at 535, 372-76.) And Mr. Briggs raised the roof color issue not in the context of a motion for reconsideration of that first ruling (indeed, Mr. Briggs never asked the trial for such reconsideration), but only in opposition to summary judgment on Mr. Brown and Valley Spa's Counterclaim for attorney's fees. (R. 535.) And when Mr. Briggs did finally raise this issue before the trial court, even he got it wrong. Mr. Briggs first stated to the trial court that the parties' original contract "describes a gazebo that is 'grey,'" but then that Mr. Brown and Valley Spa "substituted the color grey for green." (R. at 535.)

Mr. Brown and Valley Spa respectfully submit that Mr. Briggs' delay of over three years before he raised the color of the gazebo's roof demonstrates that he considered it an immaterial detail.²⁰ Mr. Brown and Valley Spa further submit that through his unreasonable delay, Mr. Briggs has waived any right to raise this issue, and that the trial court properly disregarded this belated argument when Mr. Briggs asserted it in opposition to the second Motion for Summary

²⁰The roof color might have been quickly and easily switched if Plaintiff had mentioned it in a timely manner.

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